# RECEIVED

06-11-2014

STATE OF WISCONSIN

CLERK OF COURT OF APPEALS OF WISCONSIN

COURT OF APPEALS

#### DISTRICT III

#### Case No. 2013AP002686-CR

#### STATE OF WISCONSIN,

Plaintiff-Respondent,

v.

LUIS C. SALINAS,

Defendant-Appellant.

On Appeal from a Judgment of Conviction Entered in Brown County, the Honorable Marc A. Hammer, Presiding

# BRIEF AND APPENDIX OF DEFENDANT-APPELLANT

STEVEN D. GRUNDER Assistant State Public Defender State Bar No. 1068023

Office of the State Public Defender Post Office Box 7862 Madison, WI 53707-7862 (608) 266-8374 grunders@opd.wi.gov

Attorney for Defendant-Appellant

###

#### **ISSUE PRESENTED**

 Did the circuit court err when it joined two sets of charges for trial, where a) one set of three charges (10-CF-542) alleged multiple sexual assaults of V.G. by Luis Salinas; b) the other set of charges (10-CM-1571) alleged victim intimidation of V.G. and her mother, M.S., by Mr. Salinas, with whom they both lived; c) the alleged intimidation of V.G. and M.S. predated V.G.'s accusations of sexual assault; d) the alleged intimidation related to sentencing in a *separate* domestic abuse case (09-CF-1267); and e) 09-CF-1267 included allegations that a knife-wielding Mr. Salinas had threatened to kill M.S. and their young son, who was standing next to Mr. Salinas at the time?

Over a defense objection, the court found that the charges were sufficiently related for joinder and would not unduly prejudice Mr. Salinas.

#### POSITION ON ORAL ARGUMENT AND PUBLICATION

Neither oral argument nor publication is requested. This case presents undisputed facts and a question of law that will be resolved by well-established precedent.

#### STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

This case involves the joining two sets of charges for trial. One set of charges, involving repeated sexual assaults of V.G., was filed under Brown County No. 10-CF-542. (1; App. 101-103). The other set of charges, comprising two

counts of misdemeanor intimidation of a victim, was assigned Brown County Case No. 10-CM-1571. (143; App. 104-109). There was one count involving V.G., and one count involving V.G.'s mother, M.S. (143:1; App. 104). Both charges involved a series of telephone calls made by Mr. Salinas, primarily to M.S, in April and May of 2010.<sup>1</sup> (143:2-6; App. 105-109). The 10-CM-1571 complaint alleged that Mr. Salinas had sought to influence victim statements at his sentencing in a separate domestic violence case, Brown County No. 09-CF-1267, for which Mr. Salinas had already entered pleas and been convicted. (*Id*.). Both V.G.<sup>2</sup> and M.S. were victims in the domestic violence incident, with M.S. suffering more severe and extensive abuse. (143:4-5; App. 107-108).

#### Timeline of charging and pre-trial proceedings

April 24, 2007 – October 26, 2009: In a statement given on May 13, 2010, V.G. said that she had been repeatedly sexually assaulted by Mr. Salinas over this twoand-a-half year time period. (1:1-3; App. 101-103). (See the entry for May 13, 2010, for additional details.)

**October 26, 2009**: Officers from the Green Bay Police Department were dispatched to Mr. Salina's home, where M.S., M.S.'s daughter, V.G., and Mr. Salinas' son (with M.S.) lived. (143:4; App. 107). There, officers spoke first

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> At the close of evidence in the above-captioned trial, the state moved to amend the dates on the information. Originally, Mr. Salinas was charged with making phone calls from April 15 – April 19, 2010. (143:1-2; App. 104-105). The final information alleged calls from April 15 – May 11, 2010. (77:2; App. 128).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> The charge of Child Abuse – Intentionally Causing Harm, was dismissed and read-in for sentencing. (143:5; App. 108).

with M.S. (*Id.*). She provided a written statement outlining her allegations against Mr. Salinas. (*Id.*).

[M.S.] stated she and the defendant had been arguing because the defendant wanted to take the children to Mexico because he believed they don't behave properly. She stated they continued to argue and the defendant hit her on the side of the face. She stated she told the defendant they were breaking up and the defendant then threw a small object at her. [M.S.] stated the defendant said he was going to kill her and grabbed a computer chair, so she started to leave the residence. She stated the defendant then grabbed her and grabbed a hold of her neck, using both hands to choke her. She stated the defendant pressed her against the wall while he choked her and she could not breathe. She stated the defendant choked her for less than a minute and at the time, it hurt. [M.S.] stated she began to pull the defendant's hair to get him to let her go and she was able to get away. She stated the defendant then grabbed a knife in the kitchen and at that point, she yelled for V.G. to leave the residence and V.G. did run out of the house. [M.S.] stated the defendant then stood in the doorway with their six year old son, having their son tell [M.S.] to come back to the residence. [M.S.] stated V.G. then ran across the street and called the police. She stated the defendant told [M.S.] that if she didn't come back to the residence, he would kill their son and kill himself.

(143:4; App. 107).

Police then spoke with V.G., then 15 years old. (143:4-5; App. 107-108). V.G. gave a statement to officers. (*Id.* at 5; App. 108).

> ...on October 26, 2009, at around 3:00 a.m., her mother, [M.S.], was preparing to go to work when [M.S.]'s livein boyfriend, the defendant, became angry with [M.S.] and said she couldn't go to work because of the way she

was dressed. V.G. stated she laid in her bed and the defendant came into the room, hit her on the right side of her face and the back of her head, made her get up and yelled at her for about an hour. She stated she went back to bed and woke up around 8:00 a.m. to the sound of her mother and the defendant arguing. She heard the defendant threatening to kill her mother and then she heard a loud noise that sounded like furniture being thrown. V.G. stated she saw the defendant grab her mother by the neck with both hands. She yelled at the defendant to let her mother go. She stated the defendant was yelling back at her and at one point, she heard her mother yell for her to get out of the house, so she did and ran out of the house and went across the street to call the police.

(143:5; App. 108).

**October 27, 2009**: In Brown County Case No. 09-CF-1267, Mr. Salinas was charged with four counts arising from the previous day's incidents: Strangulation and Suffocation-Domestic Abuse, a felony, Physical Abuse of a Child-Intentionally Causing Bodily Harm, a felony, Battery-Domestic Abuse-Use of a Dangerous Weapon, a misdemeanor, and Disorderly Conduct-Domestic Abuse-Use of a Dangerous Weapon, a misdemeanor. (143:4; App. 107).

**March 8, 2010**: Mr. Salinas entered Alford pleas to two counts: Strangulation and Suffocation-Domestic Abuse and Battery-Domestic Abuse-Use of a Dangerous Weapon. The other two counts charged were dismissed and read-in. (76:Exh. 3:7; 143:5; App. 108).

**April 15-19, 2010**: According to the criminal complaint in 10-CM-1571, Mr. Salinas attempted to call M.S. from jail many times. (143:2; App. 105). On four occasions, Mr. Salinas and M.S. had conversations, which were

recorded. (*Id.*). The review of the jail calls occurred in August and September of 2010, resulting in the issuance and filing of the complaint on October 5, 2010. (143; App. 104-109).

In a call recorded on April 15, Mr. Salinas referred to a letter:

Mr. Salinas: Did you get my letter?

M.S.: Yes.

Mr. Salinas: Then you know what to do that is enough.

M.S.: I don't have to do anything, Luis. You are wrong. We don't want nothing to happen to you. We don't want you to hurt yourself. We don't want none of that.

(143:3; App. 106).

In two calls recorded on April 19, Mr. Salinas expressed frustration and anger with M.S. (143:2-3; App. 105-106). Mr. Salinas acknowledged that M.S. was the mother of his son, and because of that, Mr. Salinas said that he didn't "want to be mean" to M.S. (*Id.* at 3; App. 106). In other portions of the conversations, Mr. Salinas insulted M.S., using obscene language. (143:2-3; App. 105-106). Some of Mr. Salinas' comments were threats to M.S.: "you don't know what I'm able to do;" "[y]ou don't know what I have done or what I could do;" "you don't know who I am;" "you better start thinking that one day I'm coming out;" "you don't want me to kick your ass;" "you are going to piss me off and I'm going to send someone there and you are not going to like it;" "[i]f I get out, you are going to be sorry, my darling." (143:2-3; App. 105-106).

During one of the April 19 calls, a letter was again discussed.

M.S.: I didn't pay my daughter to write you or dictated the letter to her.

Mr. Salinas: You were going to pay her last time so she could go to court and say you know what.

M.S.: Yes, because you were the one telling me to do that.

(143:2-3; App. 105-106).

May 11, 2010: Mr. Salinas was sentenced for the two counts in 09-CF-1267 to which he pled. (143:5; App. 108). Both M.S. and V.G. made statements indicating that they wanted Mr. Salinas to come back home. (Id.). There was a joint recommendation for two years of probation with 12 months in jail as a condition. (76:Exh. 3:6). Mr. Salinas, in allocution, apologized to his family and took his responsibility for his actions. (76:Exh. 3:9). He also admitted to a violent past, but said, as his attorney had, that he was sick on the day of the offenses, and "wasn't thinking right." (76:Exh. 3:12). He noted that his most recent criminal conviction was ten years earlier, his most recent felony six years before that. (Id.). Mr. Salinas said that he now knew how grave his mistake was, and that he now understood his priorities and had experienced compassion, pain and heartache. (Id.). Sentence was withheld, and Mr. Salinas was placed on probation for three years, with a total of nine months in jail as a condition. (76:Exh. 3:13). He was also ordered not to have contact with M.S. or other family members for a period of six months, though he was allowed contact with M.S. at their common place of employment. (76:Exh. 3:16). Mr. Salinas was given credit for 197 days of presentence custody against his condition time. (76:Exh. 3:15, 17).

**May 13, 2010**: V.G. provided a written statement to police, accusing Mr. Salinas of having sexually assaulted her repeatedly over a two-and-a-half year period. (1:1-2; App. 101-102). The period spanned April 24, 2007 to October 26, 2009. (*Id.* at 1; App. 101).

V.G. told police that the assaults had occurred when her mother, M.S., was not at home. (1:2; App. 102). V.G. said that if her younger brothers were not with M.S., they would be sent outside or to the park. (*Id.*). V.G. said that the sexual assaults occurred six to twelve times a month, beginning when she was 13 years old. (*Id.*). The last alleged assault occurred on October 26, 2009. (*Id.*).

If V.G. resisted or rejected Mr. Salinas' sexual advances, she stated, Mr. Salinas would "hit her, and he would sometimes punch and slap her." (1:2; App. 102). She also told police that Mr. Salinas said that if V.G. told M.S., Mr. Salinas would say that V.G. was making advances to him. (*Id.*). If V.G. were to go to the police, Mr. Salinas said that the police would take V.G.'s brothers from M.S. (*Id.*).

On October 26, 2009, according to the 10-CF-542 complaint, after M.S. left for work,<sup>3</sup> Mr. Salinas ordered V.G. to come over by him. (1:2; App. 102). V.G. inferred that this meant that Mr. Salinas wanted to have sex with her. (*Id.*). V.G. told Mr. Salinas no, that she was not going to do so and she "was tired of doing it." (*Id.*). V.G. said that Mr. Salinas was going to tell M.S., and blame it on V.G. (*Id.*). Mr. Salinas then hit her in the face with his hand, and forced her to have sexual intercourse. (*Id.*). V.G. said that afterward, Mr. Salinas began arguing with and yelling at V.G. (*Id.*).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> This would have been around 3:00 a.m. (143:5; App. 108).

On May 13, 2010, V.G. told her boyfriend that Mr. Salinas had been assaulting her. (1:2; App. 102). Her boyfriend made her tell M.S., who brought her to the police station to make a statement. (*Id.*). The same day, M.S. gave a statement, saying that she and V.G. had recently learned that Mr. Salinas would soon be released from jail [for the domestic abuse case]. (*Id.*). M.S. said that V.G. had not come home from school on May 13. (*Id.*). M.S. said that she believed that V.G. was afraid that Mr. Salinas might return home and assault V.G. (*Id.*). M.S. stated "for the past three years, V.G. has told her that she did not want the defendant living with them anymore. She also remembers the defendant asking her to have V.G. not live at the house anymore. [M.S.] stated she never understood why he would ask her that." (*Id.*).

May 19, 2010: A criminal complaint was filed in Brown County Case No. 10-CF-542, charging Mr. Salinas with the repeated sexual assault of V.G. (1; App. 101-103).

August and September, 2010: Police listened to, and translated from Spanish, recorded jail calls from Mr. Salinas to M.S. (143:2-3; App. 105-106). Police then interviewed M.S. and V.G. regarding the calls. (143:2-4; App. 105-107). Each of them provided a statement. (*Id.* at 3-4; App. 106-107).

M.S. told police that:

...she recalled that conversation and that the defendant had requested many times for V.G. to write him a letter, but V.G. had refused. She stated after V.G. refused to write him, the defendant began threatening to kill himself, so V.G. broke down and wrote him a letter. She stated this is what the defendant was talking about in the phone call. She stated the defendant did tell her to offer V.G. anything so that V.G. would come to court and say the defendant did not hit her. She stated she bought V.G. a \$20 phone card so she would go to court. She stated the defendant said it would get worse if she didn't. She stated the defendant was threatening her and pressuring her to do this. She stated V.G. did go to court to speak on the defendant's behalf for [M.S.], so it would not be worse for [M.S.]. [M.S.] stated she would like to add that the statement she gave to the officers for the domestic violence offense [was] true and correct. She stated the defendant pressured her to change that statement that she originally gave to officers. She stated she and the defendant lived together for seven years. He continues to send her letters, but puts someone else's name on the envelope so that a third party would give them to her. She stated at no time did V.G. want to go to court and speak on the defendant's behalf unless it was going to be the truth about what happened. She stated the reason V.G. did go to court was because she pressured her to do so. [M.S.] stated the defendant told her it would make him look good to the judge that his family supported him.

(143:2-3; App. 105-106).

In her statement, V.G. said:

...she was supposed to go to court to testify that the defendant did not hit her. She stated the defendant was writing her and her mother, [M.S.], and he called many times. She stated the defendant was pressuring them to change what they had said happened and she did not want to change what she said had happened. V.G. stated she did go to court for the defendant's sentencing. She stated she did speak to the court and told the judge that her brother wanted his father home and missed him. She stated she did this hoping that the defendant would stop pressuring her and her mother and he would stop annoying them and it would just go away. She stated her mother did give her a \$20 phone card for going to court and talking to the judge. She stated she got the phone

card after she went to court, but was told she would get the phone card if she went to court. V.G. stated the defendant would threaten her mother and herself when he called. She stated the defendant would also tell her brothers things to manipulate them into liking him and making them go against their mother and V.G.

(143:3; App. 106).

**October 5, 2010**: A criminal complaint was filed in Brown County Case No. 10-CM-1571, charging Mr. Salinas with two counts of Misdemeanor Intimidation of a Victim, Domestic Abuse, for the telephone calls. (143:1; App. 104). One count alleged intimidation of M.S.; the other, V.G. (*Id.*).

**October 18, 2010**: The state filed a motion to join files 10-CM-1571 and 10-CF-542 for trial. (15; App. 110-112). The state argued that the cases shared common victims, the charges in the cases arose within six months of one another, the evidence in both cases overlapped, and joinder of the files would relieve the victims from having to testify twice regarding the events. (15; App. 110-112).

**October 20, 2010**: The motion for joinder was heard. (121; App. 113-117). The state's argument was brief:

Thank you, Your Honor. The state did file the motion for joinder which outlines the reasons it believes the two files should be joined. The incidents in both files are close in time, involve the same victims, and the testimony would be intertwined because the files are related.

For those reasons, we feel that joinder would be appropriate.

(121:2; App. 113).

Counsel for Mr. Salinas opposed the motion.

Your Honor, from around October to May my client was charged with making five hundred something phone calls to [M.S.], but it was not on the matter at hand now in 10-CF-542. It's not about a sexual assault of V.G. It was -- it was about another case on which he was revoked (*sic*) and for which he was going to be released from the jail on May the 20th. Charges in this matter were filed just about that time. In fact, my Order Appointing Counsel is dated May 20th of this year.

So I really I just don't see what one has to do with the other. We can say that he -- he called [M.S.] and was rude to her and used curse words at her, but it didn't have anything to do with the sexual assault. He's not trying to intimidate anybody about the sexual assault because these charges weren't filed until after all the phone calls were over. So one case simply has nothing to do with the other.

(121:2-3; App. 113-114).

The court found that the cases were appropriate for joinder, acknowledging the prejudice to Mr. Salinas.

Well, but the fact that the charges hadn't been filed doesn't minimize the status of V.G. as a victim. I mean, the victimization occurs at the time of the assaults (*sic*) between April 15th and April 19th of 2010.

This file, 10-CM-1571, has two counts. The second count, Misdemeanor Intimidation of a Victim, is directly related to V.G., the victim in the Repeated Sexual Assault of a Child in 10-CF-542. So that there would be a logical reason to connect those two for purposes of trial.

The thought then occurs to me that were I to say that the first count, the Misdemeanor Intimidation of a Victim as

it relates to [M.S.] on something unrelated should be separated for purposes of trial, I would expect that I'm going to get a motion for other-acts evidence to include these very instances to be part of the felony trial.

So that what I'm really doing is allowing in all of the information without having an actual trial, and if there would seem to be a likelihood that I would consider other-acts evidence based upon the repeated contact, alleged repeated contact by Mr. Salinas with [M.S.], then I ought to try that case as well as Count 2 at the same time as I'm trying the felony case.

I don't think that the jury is going to be confused by this. Certainly, this is something that is prejudicial to your client. All of these things are prejudicial, but the probative value outweighs that prejudice, under these circumstances.

There is a strong likelihood that all of this evidence in this file would come in under other-acts evidence, and if that's the case, and since Count 2 is related to the felony file, Count 2 in the misdemeanor file related to the felony file, I see no reason not to include them as part of one trial in this matter.

(121:3-5; App. 114-116).

March 18, 2011: The state filed an amended information, joining the felony and misdemeanor cases. (31; App. 118-119).

August 23, 2011: The parties stipulated (43) to the filing of another amended information, this one clarifying the dates of the alleged offenses and the identity of the alleged victim in one of the misdemeanor intimidation charges. (44:1-2).

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