RECEIVED

11-03-2015

STATE OF WISCONSIN

CLERK OF SUPREME COURT OF WISCONSIN

IN SUPREME COURT

Case No. 2013AP002686-CR

STATE OF WISCONSIN,

Plaintiff-Respondent-Petitioner,

v.

LUIS C. SALINAS,

Defendant-Appellant.

On State's Petition for Review of a Decision of the Wisconsin Court of Appeals Reversing a Judgment and Remanding for New Trials in the Circuit Court for Brown County, the Honorable Marc A. Hammer, Presiding

RESPONSE BRIEF OF DEFENDANT-APPELLANT

STEVEN D. GRUNDER Assistant State Public Defender State Bar No. 1068023

Office of the State Public Defender Post Office Box 7862 Madison, WI 53707-7862 (608) 266-8374 grunders@opd.wi.gov

Attorney for Defendant-Appellant

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

soon on the domestic abuse case. Further, on crossexamination, V.G. gave a detailed chronological account of the events and her whereabouts preceding and following the sexual assault, but was then unable to recall where in the house the sexual assault occurred. Salinas therefore had a viable fabrication argument.⁵ Thus, given the weaknesses of the State's case, we cannot say, beyond a reasonable doubt, that the highly prejudicial evidence—some plainly irrelevant—had no effect on the outcome of the case. See State v. Deadwiller, 2013 WI 75, ¶41, 350 Wis. 2d 138, 834 N.W.2d 362 ("For an error to be harmless, the party who benefitted from error must show that 'it is clear beyond a reasonable doubt that a rational jury would have found the defendant guilty absent the error.") (quoted source omitted).

⁵We understand that memory may be imperfect, especially regarding traumatic events, and intend to suggest no inference as to the veracity of the victim's account. Rather, we merely recognize the weaknesses of the prosecution's case.

(Slip op., ¶ 36; Pet. App. 116-117).

In its brief, the state complains that the court of appeals mischaracterizes the state's evidence at trial, and more generally misunderstands the type of evidence presented in child sexual assault cases (state's brief at 12-13):

While there were no eyewitnesses to the assaults, or physical evidence, there is rarely this type of evidence in child sexual assault case; the lack of this evidence does not make the State's case weak.

(State's brief at 13).

The state does not cite to any authority or portion of the record to support its argument that "there is rarely this type of evidence" in child sexual assault cases. Regardless, the fact that there was such a lack of corroboration undeniably weakens the state's case.

And for the court of appeals to isolate one statement of VG's from cross-examination – that she could not remember in which room one of the assaults occurred – after she had given numerous details about houses, rooms and clothes that were involved in all of the sexual assaults, is an unfair characterization of the evidence.

(State's brief at 13; see also id. at 12).

This is, somewhat ironically, a mischaracterization of the lower court's decision. It is clear from the portion excerpted on the previous page that the court was discussing the final alleged assault, which was the basis for two of the three sexual assault counts. Elsewhere, the court of appeals recounted V.G.'s testimony that Mr. Salinas had sexually assaulted her "more than like 40 or 50 times" over the two and a half years charged in the first count. (Slip op., ¶ 8; Pet. App. 103-104). The court's focus on the final alleged assault in no way meant that the court was unaware of V.G.'s allegations of prior sexual assaults.

B. The intimidation evidence would not have come in as other acts because the minimal probative value was far outweighed by extreme prejudice.

The state asserts that the intimidation / domestic violence evidence would have been admissible as other acts regardless of joinder. (State's brief at 14-16). The court of appeals correctly rejected this claim as well.

In arguing harmlessness in its brief, the state omits essential facts, going to prejudice, that the court of appeals highlights. The intimidation charges arose post-plea and pre-sentencing in the domestic violence incident. (Slip op., ¶¶ 2-5; Pet. App. 102-103). The domestic violence case was

disposed of prior to the filing of the intimidation or sexual-assault charges. (*Id.*, ¶¶ 4-6; Pet. App. 102-103).

Extremely prejudicial information – Mr. Salinas' treatment of M.S., including threats to kill her and their son – was irrelevant to the sexual assault allegations made by V.G. And the prejudicial effect was *not* negated by overwhelming evidence supporting the sexual assault charges. There was no physical evidence, and no third-party witnesses to any assaults. V.G. testified that she was sexually assaulted; Mr. Salinas denied the accusations. A jury trying to decide who is telling the truth is not likely to credit a defendant who was said to be willing to kill his own child. That is why the improper joinder of 10-CF-542 and 10-CM-1571, which necessarily included 09-CF-1267, was not just presumptively but demonstrably prejudicial.

By joining the intimidation charges and the sexual-assault charges, the state was allowed to introduce the facts of the underlying domestic-abuse incident. As the court of appeals notes, the state used these facts in its opening, evidence and closing. (Slip op., ¶¶ 7-11, 17; Pet. App. 103-106, 108). These were not passing references, and they were extremely prejudicial.

The tenor of the state's use of the domestic-violence evidence at trial was exemplified by the state's opening statement...

You'll also hear from [M.S.] today. And where this story begins in terms of [M.S.], it really begins October 26, 2009, although it dates back further than that but that is the date that [M.S.] will tell you she came home from work. The defendant was angry, indicated he had hit [V.G.], that he was mad at her, wanted her to send her away. [M.S.] disagreed with this. They got into an argument. That is the day, ladies and gentlemen, that the

defendant strangled [M.S.], that he did that in front of [V.G.], that in the kitchen she was struggling to get away from him, that she yelled to [V.G.] get out, call the police, that she was able to get away from the defendant, that she ran out herself, and when she turned around, what did she see? More violence and intimidation. She saw the defendant standing with his 4-year-old son, [A.], to one side and a knife to the other telling [A.], "Tell your mother to come back inside."

That is a day of horror but that is also a day that stopped what was happening to [V.G.]. That is the day that family got help. That is the day that [V.G.] stopped being assaulted from the defendant. And we also know that day is the last day he assaulted her.

(134:55-56).

...and by the state's closing remarks:

And, ladies and gentlemen, I would submit at this point the defendant is very concerned. To this point he's been able to keep them from calling the police. He's been able to intimidate them, use threats, use violence to make sure the police don't get involved. But this time they're out of the house. And what does he do in a last [d]itch effort and desperation? He takes a knife and he takes his little boy, the little boy he claims to love more than anything. He has a knife in one hand and he's telling [M.S.] get back in the house. He's telling the little boy, "Tell your mother to get back in the house or I'm going to kill myself and I'm going to kill the boy."

(Slip op., ¶¶ 17; Pet. App. 108).

Considering the admission of that evidence, the court of appeals concludes:

The evidence concerning the domestic abuse incident with M.S. was not relevant to the charges of sexually assaulting V.G. Yet, the jury heard repeatedly, in the

State's opening and closing statements and from multiple witnesses, about how Salinas strangled M.S. and then threatened to kill their son while holding a knife. Thus, aside from whether any evidence relating to the joined intimidation charges would have been admissible as other-acts evidence, the misjoinder was prejudicial because it resulted in the admission of the highly prejudicial domestic abuse evidence underlying the intimidation charges. *Introduction of that evidence alone renders the misjoinder not harmless*.

(Slip op., ¶ 34; Pet. App. 115)(emphasis added).

Therefore, the court of appeals correctly found misjoinder not harmless, and the domestic violence evidence inadmissible as other acts, given the state's reliance on, and repetition of, the unduly prejudicial evidence at trial.

C. The domestic abuse evidence was not the "panorama" evidence that was deemed admissible in the cases cited by the state.

Though the state did not make such an argument in the court of appeals, the state now advances an alternate legal theory for the admission of the intimidation / domestic violence testimony: that it was part of the "panorama" of evidence. (State's brief at 16). However, the "panorama" cases cited by the state – *State v. Jensen* and *State v. Dukes* – are substantively distinguishable from Mr. Salinas' case.

In *State v. Jensen*,⁵ 2011 WI App 3, 331 Wis. 2d 440, 794 N.W.2d 482, the court of appeals held that evidence of Jensen's "campaign of emotional torture" was admissible to

⁵ Habeas corpus granted on other grounds, *Jensen v. Schwochert*, 2013 WL 6708767 (E.D. Wisconsin); aff'd, *Jensen v. Clements*, 800 F.3d 892 (7th Cir. 2015).

show motive. *Id.*, ¶¶ 85-86. Jensen had left pornographic photographs for his wife, Julie, to find around their home. *Id.*, \P 52, 83. He knew that she thought that they had been left by a former paramour. *Id.*, \P 52. The appellate court found that the evidence, and evidence of similar photographs on the home computer, was proper "panorama" evidence. *Id.*, \P 85-86. Similarly admissible was evidence that Jensen had quizzed his *new* wife about sexual activity similar to that shown in the photographs. *Id.*, \P 89.

All of that evidence went directly to the state's argument that the motive for the murder was hostility and desire to seek revenge for the Julie's affair. *Jensen*, 331 Wis. 2d 440, ¶ 84. "...[L]ong ago, our supreme court recognized that in cases of uxoricide, evidence of the defendant's ill feeling toward his wife is relevant to prove motive." *Id*. (Footnote and citation omitted). Further, that evidence duplicated other evidence put on "to show that Jensen had never forgiven Julie for her affair." *Id*., ¶ 52.

The planted photographs involved the relationship between the principal actors in the case, Jensen and Julie. *Jensen*, 331 Wis. 2d 440, ¶ 85. The similar photographs found on the computer were relevant to show that it was likely Jensen who planted the photographs, not the paramour. *Id.*, ¶ 87. One of the state's more important pieces of evidence was a series of internet searches about toxins and other means to end a life. *Id.*, ¶¶ 5-7, 37. Jensen's questioning of his new wife showed a preoccupation with the sexual activity depicted on the digital and paper photographs, supporting the state's theory that it was Jensen, not Julie, who was the primary computer user and who had done the internet searches. *Id.*, ¶¶ 88-89.

In sum, the "panorama" evidence all went to motive for the murder, and linked Jensen to internet searches showing intent. In Mr. Salinas' case, none of the intimidation or domestic violence evidence went to a motive or intent to sexually assault V.G. Likewise, the allegations of sexual assault were not the basis for the violence toward M.S., the homicidal threat to her son, or the intimidation charges. As the court of appeals noted:

Further, the only potentially overlapping evidence was indirectly connected, via the underlying domestic abuse case. V.G. and Salinas both agreed that he struck V.G. early in the morning on October 26, 2009. Later that day, Salinas and M.S. argued about V.G. The argument escalated, and Salinas was arrested and charged with several counts of domestic abuse. V.G. later asserted Salinas hit her early that morning because she had tried to resist his sexual advances. That is the sole evidence that connects one of the sexual assault charges to the one read-in domestic abuse charge involving V.G., which in turn is connected to the one intimidation charge concerning V.G. Further, Salinas's reason for striking V.G. in the domestic abuse case—as opposed to the fact he had struck her, making her a victim—would not have been relevant in the intimidation case.

(Slip op., ¶ 23; Pet. App. 110)(emphasis in original).

This is not the panorama evidence presented in Jensen, which concerned, directly or circumstantially, Jensen's actions toward Julie. Both V.G. and Mr. Salinas agreed that Mr. Salinas slapped V.G. in the early morning hours of October 26, 2009. The slap was relevant to one of the sexual assault counts, requiring the use or threat of force, and the slap evidence would have been admissible in the sexual assault case if the charges had not been joined. It was not necessary to join the charges to introduce that testimony.

However, the violent confrontation later in the day, and the intimidation leading up to sentencing for

that confrontation, were not related to the allegations of sexual assault. M.S. was not a victim of sexual assault. V.G. did not receive threats of homicidal violence, as had M.S. and her son. The only line connecting Mr. Salinas to M.S., their young child, and V.G. was inadmissible evidence: that Mr. Salinas had an unchecked character for violence. Panorama evidence is not synonymous with character evidence.

The state also relies on *State v. Dukes*, 2007 WI App 175, 303 Wis. 2d 208, 736 N.W.2d 515, to support its panorama evidence argument. (State's brief at 16). In *Dukes*, the defendant was charged with, inter alia, keeping a drug house, as a party to the crime. *Dukes*, 303 Wis. 2d 208, ¶ 5. At trial, the state presented evidence of a drug purchase made at Dukes' house approximately a month prior to his arrest. *Id.*, ¶¶ 6-8.

Dukes challenged the admission of that evidence on appeal, but he did not prevail. The court of appeals characterized the drug purchase evidence as part of the panorama of evidence "needed to completely describe the crime that occurred and is thereby inextricably intertwined with the crime." *Dukes*, 303 Wis. 2d 208, ¶ 28. That is because it was intended to show that Dukes' residence was indeed a drug house, an element of maintaining a drug house. *Id.*, ¶ 30. In addition, Dukes' knowledge of illegal activities at his home was corroborated by other evidence, including Dukes' recorded telephone calls explicitly mentioning drugs and encouraging others to remain silent. *Id.*, ¶ 24.

The court of appeals concluded that the drug purchase evidence "was certainly not an impermissible attempt to introduce character evidence about Dukes. Rather, the evidence was introduced to show that Apartment 1 at 450 North 33rd Street was a drug house. This was an element

of count three, maintaining a drug house...with which Dukes was charged." *Dukes*, 303 Wis. 2d 208, ¶ 30 (emphasis added).

The evidence underlying the domestic abuse and intimidation charges was not "inextricably intertwined" with V.G.'s testimony regarding sexual assaults. The single thread tangentially connecting the two cases was the slap of V.G. That evidence would necessarily have been introduced in the intimidation case, and it would have been relevant and admissible regarding one of the sexual assault counts, had the cases not been joined for trial.

The court in *Dukes* found that the admitted evidence did not generate undue prejudice, that is, it would not arouse in the jury "a sense of horror or desire to punish." *Dukes*, 303 Wis. 2d 208, ¶ 30, *citing State v. Opalewski*, 2002 WI App 145, ¶ 23, 256 Wis. 2d 110, 647 N.W.2d 331. The misjoinder of Mr. Salinas' cases allowed the state to introduce extremely damning character evidence, the admission of which was not harmless beyond a reasonable doubt. The jury deciding all counts heard that Mr. Salinas, holding a knife and standing with his son, threatened to kill the child in front of his mother. It is difficult, if not impossible, to conceive a more shocking, terrifying threat. For that reason, the misjoinder was not harmless:

The evidence concerning the domestic abuse incident with M.S. was not relevant to the charges of sexually assaulting V.G. Yet, the jury heard repeatedly, in the State's opening and closing statements and from multiple witnesses, about how Salinas strangled M.S. and then threatened to kill their son while holding a knife. Thus, aside from whether any evidence relating to the joined intimidation charges would have been admissible as other-acts evidence, the misjoinder was prejudicial because it resulted in the admission of the

highly prejudicial domestic abuse evidence underlying the intimidation charges. *Introduction of that evidence alone renders the misjoinder not harmless*.

(Slip op., ¶ 34; Pet. App. 115)(emphasis added).

In the state's view, what distinguishes panorama evidence from, say, the details of a defendant's criminal record, which a jury is generally barred from considering?

In sum, the panel on the court of appeals reached the correct result by applying settled joinder law to a complicated, and disturbing, set of facts. Joinder was improper, and not harmless, because by improperly joining two sets of charges, the state effectively joined a third, and relied on the facts of the third to introduce extremely prejudicial character evidence.

CONCLUSION

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